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Director Edmund Goulding and Greta Garbo on the set of òGrand Hotel,ó 1932. 

I N T R O D U C T I O N  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Edmund Goulding Estate at 1752 Ridge Road holds exceptional cultural significance as one 

of Palm Springs' most important early connections to Hollywood's golden age. It is also an 

exemplary contributor to the transformative interwar period (1919-1941), which defined the 

character of the desert community.  

Originally constructed circa 1927-28 as part of Edmond Fulford's pioneering Palm Springs Mesa 

subdivision, the estate exemplifies the Spanish Colonial Revival architecture that dominated 

Palm Springs development during this era, featuring hollow block concrete brick construction, 

terra cotta barrel tile roofs, and refined indoor-outdoor integration perfectly adapted to desert 

living.  
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Under the ownership of celebrated film director Edmund Goulding (1935-1941), the property was 

transformed into the internationally renowned "Little White House" compound, serving as an 

unofficial embassy for Hollywood's elite and European aristocracy. The compound hosted a 

who's who of legendary figures such as Greta Garbo, Marlene Dietrich, the Duke of Warwick, 

and the Maharani of Indore, establishing Palm Springs' reputation as an elegant international 

destination worthy of the world's most discerning travelers. Edmund Goulding, whose directorial 

achievements included "Grand Hotel" (1932) and "Dark Victory" (1939), directed nine actors to 

Oscar nominations and helped define stylish entertainment during Hollywood's golden age.  

The estate's importance further enhances this cultural significance as an early LGBTQ+ site, 

where Goulding's well-documented "bisexual orgies" and gatherings created one of the first safe 

spaces for Hollywood's LGBTQ+ community during an era of intense studio surveillance and 

moral restrictions. The estate's architectural and design significance stems from its association 

with four remarkable figures who shaped both Palm Springs development and American cultural 

history during the crucial interwar period.  

Edmond Fulford, the visionary developer who created the exclusive Palm Springs Mesa 

subdivision, sought to establish a high-quality residential community that emphasized the 

preservation of natural beauty while providing modern amenities in the prevailing Spanish 

Colonial Revival style.  

The collaborative work of architect-designer Tom Douglasña former London stage sensation 

who became one of Hollywood's premier interior designersñand landscape architect Paul H. 

Averyñresulted in pioneering design innovations, including one of the first biomorphic 

swimming pools ever documented.1 Together, these associations create a property of unparalleled 

historical importance that embodies Palm Springs' transformation from a simple desert health 

resort to an internationally recognized cultural destination. 

Scope of Evaluation and Integrity Assessment 

For evaluation purposes, this nomination document encompasses the complete Goulding Estate 

Compound to provide comprehensive understanding of the site's historical development and 

 
1 The first documented biomorphic, or freeform, swimming pool, was designed by Paul G. Thiene for the Milton 

Getz estate in Beverly Hills, 1927. The next known biomorphic swimming pool was designed by landscape 

architect Tommy Tomson for his brother-in-law Cliff Henderson in 1939. Like the Goulding pool, both early 

pools were designed to emulate a naturalistic pond. Internationally, Alvar Aalto designed a similar pool for the 

Villa Mairea in 1939, though the influence for this shape was the organic forms Aalto had seen in the 

Biomorphic movement in Modern Art, from artists like Joan Miró and Jean Arp, and which Aalto was using in 

his own work. The Goulding pool from 1936 is an important contextual addition to these early pools. 
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cultural significance. While the entire compound retains its extraordinary historical importance 

and demonstrates the estate's role in Palm Springs' cultural evolution, the integrity assessment 

reveals differentiated preservation conditions across the various structures that directly impact 

classification eligibility.  

The primary residence and associated guest house at 1752 Ridge Road demonstrate exceptional 

historic integrity, retaining their essential architectural character, original materials, and spatial 

relationships with minimal compromising alterations. These structures fully satisfy the stringent 

requirements for Class 1 Historic Resource designation. The additional guest cottage at 1755 

Ridge Road has undergone modifications that consist primarily of sympathetic additions rather 

than subtractive alterations, preserving the essential historic character while accommodating 

functional updates. This structure demonstrates strong potential for Class 2 designation and 

would likely qualify for such classification.  

However, the guest cottage, servant's quarters, and garage at 1716 Ridge Road have experienced 

significant integrity losses due to substantial deterioration and neglect over time, resulting in 

compromises to their historic fabric that preclude higher-level classification despite their equal 

cultural and historical importance within the compound's development narrative.  

A period of significance for the estate has been established as 1928-1941, encompassing both the 

original construction under Fulford and the transformative enhancements under Goulding's 

ownership, making the intact portions an invaluable resource for understanding both the 

architectural and cultural development of Palm Springs during its formative years as an 

international resort destination. 

(Note: For complete biographies of Edmond Fulford, Edmund Goulding, and Tom Douglas, see 

the Appendices.) 
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(to be completed by Planning staff:) 
 

 

CITY OF PALM SPRINGS 
Department of Planning Services 

 

HISTORIC RESOURCE DESIGNATION (HRD) 

TO THE APPLICANT:  
Complete all parts of this application. Denote ñNAò for lines that are not applicable. 
Submit the completed application with attachments to the Department of Planning Services at 
3200 E. Tahquitz Canyon Way, Palm Springs, CA 92262 Phone: 760-323-8245 Fax: 760-322-8380 

This application is for a proposed: (Check one) X Historic Site / Resource X Historic District: 

Applicantôs Name: 1755 RIDGE ROAD 
 

Please Print 

X  Owner  Lessee  Authorized Agent  City  Other 

Applicantôs Address:  1755 RIDGE ROAD 

Number and Street Name or P.O. Box 

PALM SPRINGS 
 

CA 
  

92264 _ 
City 

Telephone Nos: 760-272-1000 

State  ZIP 

Residence Cell  Work  

E-Mail address: luciendesertwolff@gmail.com 

Note: For Historic District applications: On a separate page, provide a list all sites / parcels within the 
proposed historic district boundaries with the following information provided for each parcel / 
APN. 

Site Address: 1752 RIDGE ROAD, PALM SPRINGS, CA 92264 
 

APN  513352002 Zone:  Section: Genôl Plan Land Use Desig.  
 
Is the project is located on the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians Reservation? NO 

 

(Refer to the Land Status Map under Tribal Resources on the Planning Department home page.) 

Construction Date: 1928  Estimated  Actual (denote source, i.e. bldg. permits) 

 

Architect: UNKNOWN/TOM DOUGLAS Builder: UNKNOWN 

 

 

Date: 

Case No. 

HSPB No. 

Planner: 

 

mailto:luciendesertwolff@gmail.com
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Present Owner: LUCIEN WOLFF 
 

 

 

Present Owner Address: _1755 RIDGE ROAD, PALM SPRINGS, CA 92264 
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Original Owner: EDMOND FULFORD; EDMUND GOULDING 
 

Other notable past owners:  
 

Other Historic Associations: LGBTQ+ 
 

 

Common Name of Property: GOULDING ESTATE 
 

Historic Name of Property: THE LITTLE WHITE HOUSE 
 

Attach to this application any information, photos, drawings, newspaper articles, reports, studies, or 
other materials to fully describe the characteristics or conditions that support this application for historic 
designation. 

 

Architectural Style: SPANISH COLONIAL REVIVAL 

(Refer to the Architectural Styles chapter of the Citywide Historic Context Statement, under Historic 
Resources on the Planning Home page (www.palmspringsca.gov). 

 
Period of Significance: 1927-1941 

 

(See the Citywide Historic Context Statement Document.) 
 
Please list any informational reference sources used to complete this application: 
SEE SOURCES IN REPORT 

 
PSMC 8.05.070 (C,1): Criteria for the Designation of Class 1 Historic Resources.  
A site, structure, building or object may be designated as a Class 1 historic resource or a Contributing 
Resource in a proposed historic district by the Palm Springs City Council, provided both of the following 
findings are met. 

Provide a written description of how the site qualifies as historic resource under one or more of the 
following criterion: 

FINDING 1: The site, structure, building or object exhibits exceptional historic significance and 
meets one or more of the criteria listed below: 

 
i. The resource is associated with events that have made a meaningful contribution to the nation, 

state or community.1 

ii. The resource is associated with the lives of persons who made a meaningful contribution to 
national, state or local history. 

iii. The resource reflects or exemplifies a particular period of national, state or local history. 
iv. The resource embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type of construction, a period of 

construction or a method of construction.2 

v. The resource presents the work of a master builder, designer, artist, or architect whose 
individual genius influenced his age, or that possesses high artistic value. 

vi. The resource represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack 
individual distinction, as used in evaluating applications for designation of historic districts, for 
parcels on which more than one entity exists. 

vii. The resource has yielded or may be likely to yield information important to national, state or 
local history or prehistory. 

 

1 NOTE: Unlike the National Register criteria, The Cityôs criterion does not consider ñpatterns of eventsò. For 
consideration of ñpatterns of eventsò, use Criterion ñiiiò, reflecting a particular period. 

http://www.palmspringsca.gov/
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2 Unlike the National Register criteria ñtype, period of method of construction relates to construction onlyô For 
design theme or characteristics use Criterion ñiiiò (period) or Criterion v (high artistic value). 



FINDING 2: The site, structure, building or object retains most if not all of the 
following aspects of Integrity, as established in the Secretary of the 
Interiorôs Standards3: Design, Materials, Workmanship, Location, 
Setting, Feeling, Association. 

 
PSMC 8.05.070 (C,2) Criteria for the Designation of Class 2 Historic Resources.  
A site, structure, building or object may be designated as a Class 2 historic resource, 
or a Contributing Resource to a proposed historic district by the Palm Springs City 
Council provided the site, structure, building or object exhibits exceptional historic 
significance and meets one or more of the criteria listed in Finding 1 above. A Class 
2 historic resource is not required to meet the findings for integrity as described in 
Finding 2 (above). 

PSMC 8.05.090 (C) Criteria and Findings for Designation of Historic Districts.  
In addition to the criteria listed in Finding 1, to be considered for designation as a 
Historic District, a defined area must: 

 
a. Contain contributing resources on a majority of the sites within the proposed 
district which individually meet the criteria in Finding (1). The defined area 
may include other structures, buildings, or archaeological sites which 
contribute generally to the overall distinctive character of the area and are 
related historically or visually by plan or physical development. 
(Identify list by address and APN number each site / parcel that meets the 
criteria outlined in Finding 1 above and document how each meets the criteria. 

b. Identify non-contributing properties or vacant parcels to the extent 
necessary to establish appropriate, logical or convenient boundaries. 
(Identify list by address and APN number each site / parcel within the 
proposed historic district that is considered non-contributing to the overall 
historic significance of the historic district.) 

Please attach any additional information related to the 

application as necessary. Questions: Contact the Palm Springs 

Planning Department at 760 323 8245. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3 Refer to the U.S. Department of the Interior Bulletin for How to Evaluate the Integrity of a Property. 
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In this early aerial photograph, the 1927-28 Edmond Fulford Residence and Guest House at 1752 

Ridge Road can be seen in the center, at the top of Ridge Road. Courtesy Palm Springs Historical 

Society. 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE  

THE ARCHITECTURE OF THE GOULDING ESTATE  

 

The Fulford Era: Original Architecture and Site Plan (1927-1928) 

 

The Edmond Fulford residence was constructed during the height of the very 

first building boom in Palm Springs in the 1920s, appearing on the 1929 Sanborn 

map as two of the early structures in the prestigious Mesa development. The 

Palm Springs Mesa/Tahquitz Desert Estates tract was only the fourth 
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subdivision recorded in the history of Palm Springs.2 While the original architect 

remains unknown, the original primary residence and associated detached guest 

house demonstrate characteristics consistent with the first-rate residential 

architecture that Palm Springs pioneer and Palm Springs Mesa developer 

Edmond Fulford sought to attract to his development. Fulford's documented 

associations with noted architects Alfred Heineman of Pasadena and Paul R. 

Williams, who designed two of Fulfordõs own homes, suggest potential influence 

from leading design professionals of the era.3  

 

 

 

 
In this detail from the 1929 Sanborn map, the parcel at 1752 Ridge Road shows the original 

primary residence and small guest house adjacent to it. 

 

 
2 The first subdivision was Las Hacienditas, which was created by J.J. Kocher in 1923; that 

same year, Vista Acres (Prescott T. Stevens) and Tahquitz Park (Pearl McCallum McManus) 

were opened, followed by Palm Springs Mesa/Tahquitz Desert Estates in 1924. 
3 Pasadena architect Alfred Heineman was one of the investors, along with Fulford, in the 

Tahquitz Desert Estates tract, and did design some of the homes there. Paul R. Williams is 

known to have designed two other homes for Fulford in the tract as well. 
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The original two structures were strategically sited to take advantage of the 

natural contours of the desert landscape, following Fulford's philosophy that 

development should enhance rather than diminish the natural beauty of the 

desert environment. The buildings placement in the northernmost corner of Palm 

Canyon Mesa provided commanding views of the desert valley while taking 

advantage of the natural protection and privacy offered by the canyon 

formations. 
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The primary residence at 1752 Ridge Road. May 2025 photo by the author. 

 

THE PRIMARY RESIDENCE 

 

Primary Facade (Ridge Road Elevation) 

 

The primary facade along Ridge Road presents a slightly asymmetrical 

elevation. The central organizing element is a recessed volume featuring a 

prominent brick fireplace at its center, flanked by full-length openings consisting 

of French doors to the right and a solid entry door to the left. A slight tile-roofed 

overhang protects the front entrance, though this element appears to be a later 

addition. 

 

The central volume is anchored by two forward-projecting gabled brick volumes 

that create a dynamic three-dimensional composition. The left volume features a 
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pair of wooden casement windows. In contrast, the right volume contains three 

smaller windows arranged asymmetrically.  

 

The building's construction utilizes hollow block concrete brick painted white, a 

material choice that reflects both practical considerations for the desert climate 

and the aesthetic preferences of the era. The roof is covered with terra cotta barrel 

tiles. 

 

A pathway leads to the left side of the left-hand gabled volume, providing access 

to a French door that enters the front bedroom. 

 

 

 
In this still from a 1939 Kodachrome home movie, a portion of the guest house at right, with a 

partial view of the rear facade of the primary residence. Courtesy UCLA Film and Television 

Archive. 
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Rear Facade (Canyon Elevation) 

 

The rear facade reveals the building's response to its dramatic hillside site, 

presenting a two-story elevation that takes full advantage of the natural 

topography. Like the primary facade, the composition features a central recessed 

volume flanked by two forward-projecting gabled volumes, but the additional 

height allows for more complex architectural treatment here. 

 

The central recessed area forms a covered patio with a deep overhang supported 

by wooden posts. Each post is topped with two horizontal notched wooden pieces 

that create a capital-like detail, supporting a long wooden beam that carries the 

open rafters of the pitched tile roof. The horizontal handrails feature flat board 

vertical supports underneath, each one gently tapered with a decorative waist 

and small notches on either side, creating a rustic yet refined aesthetic. 

 

The rear wall of this patio space features a very large arched picture window 

flanked by two pairs of French doors, creating a dramatic opening that connects 

interior and exterior spaces.  
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In this 1954 home movie still, the rear elevation of the primary residence with Tom Averyõs mature 

landscape shown in thriving state. Courtesy Deserted Films.  

 

Side Elevations 

 

The north facade demonstrates the building's response to cross-ventilation 

requirements, featuring a French door on the ground floor with a single wooden 

casement window above. The facade projects forward on the north side, 

accommodating three small wooden casement windows and a door on the ground 

floor, with three wooden casement windows on the second floor above. 
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The carport at the north facade of the primary residence at 1752 Ridge Road. May 2025 photo by 

the author. 

 

The south facade is dominated by a large rectangular window opening on the 

second floor, containing four wooden casement windows. The covered carport, 

while appearing somewhat utilitarian today, was an integral part of the original 

design, as evidenced by its appearance in 1939 photographs. The carport features 

practical elements, including kitchen access, electrical service, and storage.  
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The large living room of the primary residence. May 2025 photo by the author. 

 

Interior Spatial Organization 

 

Upon entering through the front door, one encounters a dramatic living room 

with an open gabled beam ceiling that emphasizes the building's structural 

system, creating a sense of spaciousness. 

 

The living room serves as the heart of the house, with French doors providing 

access to the covered patio and a large arched picture window offering dramatic 

views of the desert landscape beyond. The massive brick fireplace, featuring an 

arched opening that mirrors the picture window across from it, creates a strong 

axial relationship that organizes the space. Additional French doors on both the 

primary facade and patio side flood the living room with natural light while 

emphasizing the indoor-outdoor connection. 



23 

 

 

The floor plan includes a large dining room connected to the living room through 

a broad opening, with numerous windows along one side and access to a relatively 

compact kitchen. The bedroom wing, accessible through a doorway on the north 

wall of the living room, features two bedrooms on the upper level: one at the front 

and one at the rear, with a bathroom situated between them. Additional 

bedrooms, utility rooms, and bathrooms occupy the lower floor, utilizing the 

sloping site to create functional space while maintaining the building's primary 

orientation toward the views. 

 

 
The covered patio at the rear of the primary residence. 
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Detail of the early aerial, showing the original Fulford primary residence and guest house at 1752 

Ridge Road. Courtesy Palm Springs Historical Society. 

 

THE GUEST HOUSE 

 

Contemporaneous with the primary residence, the guest house was constructed 

circa 1928 as an integral component of the original Fulford development. The 

guest house utilizes the same material palette and construction techniques as the 

primary residence, creating architectural unity across the compound while 

maintaining its own distinct character. 

 

 

 



25 

 

Construction and Materials 

 

The guest house employs identical construction methods to the primary 

residence, which is built of hollow block concrete brick, painted white, with a red 

tile roof. This consistent material palette reinforces the visual cohesion of the 

compound while demonstrating the high construction standards maintained 

throughout the development. 

 

 
The primary facade of the guest house. May 2025 photo by the author. 

 

 

Primary Facade (Ridge Road Elevation) 

 

In contrast to the more elaborate composition of the primary residence, the guest 

house presents a deliberately restrained facade along Ridge Road. The primary 
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elevation displays an almost utilitarian character, reflecting its subsidiary role. 

The facade features a central door flanked symmetrically by a pair of wooden 

casement windows, creating a simple tripartite composition that emphasizes 

functional clarity over decorative elaboration. 

 

A relatively shallow red tile overhang, supported by wooden beams, provides 

weather protection for the entrance while maintaining the understated character 

of the elevation. This shallow overhang appears to be original to the house. 

 

 
The rear facade of the guest house. 1954 Kodachrome home movie still, courtesy Deserted Films. 

 

Rear Facade (Canyon Elevation) 

 

The rear facade is designed to capitalize on the dramatic canyon views and 

establish a visual dialogue with the primary residence. The two-story elevation 
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features a balcony on the second floor, creating outdoor living space while 

providing architectural interest through its structural expression. 

 

The balcony is supported by three tall wooden posts that extend from ground 

level to a single wooden beam, creating a colonnade effect that echoes the 

architectural language of the primary residence while maintaining its own 

distinct, yet simpler, character. This beam supports a red-tiled roof that runs 

along the length of the facade, providing weather protection for the balcony while 

creating a strong horizontal emphasis that unifies the composition. 

 

The second-story balcony features wooden handrails and upright supports that 

relate to those of the primary residence but employ simpler detailing, befitting 

the guest house's subsidiary status. The wooden beams lack the decorative 

horizontal details found on the primary residence, and the upright balustrades 

are simple orthogonal boards rather than the tapered elements used on the main 

house. This differentiation in detail level reinforces the hierarchical relationship 

between the buildings while maintaining overall design unity. 

 

The wall behind the balcony accommodates four pairs of French doors, providing 

generous access to outdoor space and allowing for abundant natural light and 

cross-ventilation cooling of the interior spaces. This arrangement demonstrates 

the same commitment to indoor-outdoor living that characterizes the primary 

residence, adapted to the scale and function of the guest accommodation. 
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The north facade of the guest house at 1752 Ridge Road. May 2025 photo by the author. 

 

Ground Floor and Structural Integration 

 

The first floor features a door positioned to the right with two pairs of wooden 

casement windows that provide natural light while maintaining privacy. Angled 

supports for the balcony floor create distinctive "Y" shapes at the center of the 

composition. 

 

The first floor above incorporates an elevated wood-floored deck that overlooks 

the rear garden area, extending the living space on that floor into the landscape 

while providing an intermediate level between interior and exterior 

environments. This deck arrangement facilitates the informal outdoor 

entertaining that became central to the estate's social function. 

 

Connection to Main Residence 

 

The architectural relationship between the guest house and the primary residence 

is reinforced through a physical connection at ground level. A hollow block 

concrete brick wall featuring an arched opening links the two structures, creating 

both visual and functional continuity. Concrete stairs rise through this opening 

to street level, providing convenient circulation between the buildings while 

maintaining the compound's unified character. 
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The guest house at 1752 Ridge Road. May 2025 photo by the author. 

 

 

 
A detail from the 1962 Sanborn map, showing the structures added during the Goulding period. 
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Still from circa 1940 Kodachrome film about Palm Springs and the El Mirador Hotel. The 

Goulding Compound is at the top of Ridge Road. To the right is the Tom Douglas Residence. 

Courtesy Stock Footage Archive. 

 

The Goulding Transformation: Compound Expansion and Enhancement 

(1935-1936) 

 

In 1934, film director Edmund Goulding began renting the Fulford house as a 

place for his ill wife, Marjorie Moss, to recuperate. Following his wife's death in 

early 1935, Goulding decided to purchase the Fulford property, embarking on an 

ambitious beautification project that would take the better part of two years to 

complete.4 

 

Goulding began assembling several adjoining parcels until the estate comprised 

fourteen acres. While most of the land would remain undeveloped, he 

collaborated with designer Tom Douglas to create several guest cottages and a 

 
4 The Desert Sun, March 13, 1936. 
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servant's quarters with an adjacent garage, forming a compound designed for the 

lavish entertaining of noted artists and nobility, for which he became widely 

known in the years leading up to World War II. 

 

In March 1936, the County Planning Commission met specifically to consider 

Goulding's plans for his estate, including the vacation of certain roads and streets 

in Tahquitz Desert Estates to provide greater privacy for his expanding 

property.5 Formidable, white-painted brick pillars announcing "PRIVATE" 

were paired at each end of the two entrances from Ridge Road, with white picket 

gates to ensure privacy. The entire length of Ridge Road was lined with a white 

picket fence along the canyon side. 

 

Under Goulding's direction, the estate underwent a comprehensive 

transformation that established a distinctive and cohesive aesthetic across the 

entire compound. Tom Douglas, a successful young Hollywood designer who had 

previously worked on the original Fulford house for Mrs. Goulding, played a 

crucial role in expanding and refining the estate's design. He took charge of 

designing and decorating five separate buildings that comprised the new guest 

cottages and servants' quarters. 

 

The architectural foundation used the same hollow block concrete brick 

construction painted white throughout all buildings, which provided both 

thermal mass suitable for the desert climate and a unified appearance that 

emphasized the buildings' forms. Terra cotta barrel tile roofs were whitewashed 

to match the walls, creating visual continuity while offering effective weather 

protection and heat reflection. A signature light turquoise paint color was applied 

to all windows and doors throughout the property, including the guest cottages 

added during Goulding's ownership. In contrast, structural wooden elementsñ

posts, beams, and decorative detailsñwere painted white to maintain the overall 

scheme. 

 

 
5 Ibid.  
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Douglas also modified the original 1928 residence by opening the previously 

enclosed upper patio, removing the left-side balustrade, and constructing 

concrete stairs that created a direct connection between the house and the 

landscaped grounds below.  

 

 
A still from Douglas Fairbanks, Sr. 1939 Kodachrome home movie shows the north-east corner of 

the guest cottage at 1755 Ridge Road. Courtesy UCLA Film and Television Archive. 

 

1755 Ridge Road (Primary Guest Cottage) 

 

This structure was the largest built in the Goulding/Douglas expansion and 

served as the primary guest cottage at the compound. Sited slightly above the 

primary residence and original guest house, 1755 was constructed of the same 

material palette as the rest of the compound. It is a large hollow block concrete 

brick structure with a gabled roof covered in white-painted barrel terra cotta 

tiles, with wood doors and windows painted turquoise. 
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Primary Facade: Facing Ridge Road, the composition featured a flat brick wall, 

with an asymmetrical composition featuring an entry door and a series of wood 

casement windows. 

 

Rear Facade: As constructed, the rear facade had a long expanse on the left side 

of the composition, with a deep tiled roof overhang placed slightly underneath 

the overall roofline, creating a shaded outdoor patio area. This led to a huge 

outdoor patio overlooking the canyon below and views beyond. To the right of 

this, a wing jutted forward, with a balcony like that on the original guest house. 

This part of the house was two stories, built into the hillside adjacent. 

 

Side Elevations: The south elevation was relatively opaque, affording privacy to 

the guests in both guest cottages. A fireplace was the predominant feature of this 

gabled end. The north elevation was also relatively opaque, but large picture 

windows have since been punched through. 
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Still from circa 1940 Kodachrome film about Palm Springs and the El Mirador Hotel. The Guest 

Cottage at 1716 Ridge Road is at left. To the right of the white brick pillars is the south facade of 

the primary residence at 1752 Ridge Road. Courtesy Stock Footage Archive. 

 

1. 1716 Ridge Road Guest Cottage 

 

This Tom Douglas-designed structure was sited at the far south of the gated 

estate and is nestled into the rocks on the west side of Ridge Road, slightly above 

Ridge Road and above granite boulder retaining walls. 

 

The structure is essentially square in footprint, constructed as the others with 

hollow block concrete brick and barrel tile gabled roof, all whitewashed. Wood 

casement windows and doors were painted turquoise. 

 

The primary facade facing Ridge Road now features two relatively small wood-

framed casement windows, though historic Kodachrome movie footage circa 
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1940 suggests more and much larger window openings. This structure suffered 

major damage in a 1943 fire, which might explain the changes made. 

 

 

 
The granite retaining wall and steps leading up to the entry landing at 1716, with one of the 

windows on the east facade showing over the man. This still is from a 1953 or 1954 home movie 

and shows Angie Rhodes and her husband Mack, who was a Palm Springs police officer, the 

couple rented 1716. Angieõs mother and brother lived at 1752 Ridge Road. Courtesy Deserted 

Films. 
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Up several winding steps from Ridge Road, along the granite retaining walls, one 

enters a roofed entry patio landing. Originally, this was a rather open-air patio, 

with a tiled roof overhang, lower than the adjacent gabled roof, which was 

supported by vertical wood posts supporting wood beams, with handrails and 

balustrade detail matching that of the other structures on the property. From 

here, the gabled south-facing wall featured a front door and a pair of wood 

casement windows. The north facade has a small balcony matching the other 

balconies on the other guest cottages. 

 

Much of the integrity of the details of this structure has been lost over the years. 

The entry has been reconfigured with a clumsy stucco arched enclosure with tile-

roofed entry replacing the original simple overhang, which has been removed. 

 

 
The primary facade of the guest cottage at 1716 Ridge Road. The covered patio at the entry has had 

stucco arches added at a later date. May 2025 photo by the author. 
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The north facade of the guest cottage at 1716 Ridge Road. The overhang covering this patio is a 

later addition. Also, the rear walls on either side of the fireplace have been removed. May 2025 

photo by the author. 

 

2. Servants Quarters and Garage 

 

This series of two structures includes a relatively small residence for a caretaker 

or servants. It is a small, squared structure, with a small protruding portion to 

the right. A series of wood doors and casement windows match the other 

structures at the site. 
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The servantõs quarters and adjacent garage structure at 1716 Ridge Road. May 2025 photo by the 

author. 
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Sited slightly below this is the garage, which is a utilitarian structure with a red-

tiled roof. It has a heavy post-and-beam facade at the front, with wooden garage 

doors enclosing the garage stalls. 

 

Like the adjacent guest cottage, these two structures are in poor condition today, 

with significant structural integrity issues and overall losses. 

 

THE LANDSCAPE OF THE GOULDING ESTATE: PAUL H. AVERY, 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 

 

The site as a whole was redesigned to integrate the structures with the landscape 

through a collaboration with Paul Hamilton Avery, a distinguished landscape 

architect who specialized in desert and Mediterranean plantings. Born August 5, 

1906, in Ledyard, New York, to Horace and Edith Avery, Paul H. Avery 

represented a new generation of landscape designers who understood both 

classical European and the burgeoning Modernist garden traditions, as well as 

the unique requirements of California's desert environment. 

 

Avery's educational background combined athletic achievement with academic 

excellence. Both he and his brother, Howard, attended San Diego State, where 

they played football, before continuing to Stanford University. Paul studied as 

an English major at Stanford in 1926, following in the footsteps of his mother 

Edith, who had attended Stanford from 1897-1899. The brothers became 

champion football players at Stanford, demonstrating the physical vigor that 

would later serve Paul well in his demanding landscape construction work. 
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Howard Avery at left, and brother Paul, right. From the (Lykens, PA) òStandard,ó November 2, 

1928 

 

 

In the summer of 1928, Avery undertook a formative educational journey to 

England and Switzerland, visiting more than fifty of the finest gardens and rock 

gardens. This trip took place during a unique period when the finest estates were 

opened to the public for the first time, with a shilling admission charge benefiting 

hospitals. Avery took hundreds of photographs and visited the rock gardens at 

the Royal Horticultural Show in May, where fourteen competitive exhibits 

demonstrated that natural arrangement had almost entirely replaced formal rock 

garden design. 

 

Upon returning to California, Paul and Howard Avery began a landscape 

design/build firm, which specialized in rock wall construction and the use of 

flagstones for paths, steps, terraces, and pools. His early projects included 

notable work at the Mt. Helix amphitheater and extensive rock work for Colonel 
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Ed Fletcher's Mt. Helix property. California Garden magazine noted that the 

Avery brothers were doing "fine though heavy rock work during their vacations" 

while both were students at San Diego State College, predicting that "such 

industry and ambition and ability will certainly leave their footprints on the 

rocks of this county."6 

 

By 1930, Avery had also established himself as a lecturer, presenting slide shows 

on the European rock gardens he had studied and the gardens he was creating in 

the San Diego area. During the 1930s, he served as Landscape Architect on the 

Executive Staff of the San Diego Zoo, working alongside architect Louis Gill. His 

office and studio were located at the Village Center in Rancho Santa Fe by 1939.7 

 

Throughout the 1930s and 1940s, newspapers and magazines regularly reported 

on Avery's elegant and creative garden designs, primarily in the San Diego 

region. Like his brother, Howard (1908-1987), Paul served in World War II. After 

the war, he transitioned to development work, mainly in Northern California, 

and appears to have retired from landscape architecture by the 1950s. He died in 

Montana in 2000 at age ninety-four. 

 
6 California Garden, March 1930. 
7 Daily Times-Advocate, Escondido, Apr 20, 1939. 
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Douglas Fairbanks, Sr. and his Great Dane descend the hill from the guest cottage at 1755 to the 

pool area behind the primary residence. Note the large granite boulders imbedded in the biomorphic 

poolõs coping, important innovations in swimming pool design. Courtesy UCLA Film and 

Television Archive.  

Avery's Hardscape Design at the Goulding Estate 

 

Paul Avery's work at the Goulding Estate exemplified a masterful integration of 

built and natural environments, becoming one of his most celebrated 

achievements. According to contemporary newspaper reports, Avery created an 

impressive water feature system that included a bridge traversing the canyon in 

front of the structures on Ridge Road, with a waterfall flowing underneath to the 

swimming pool below. While no historic photographs of this bridge have been 

located, and no bridge exists today, this suggests this element may have been 

filled in during subsequent modifications. 






































































































































































































































